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But He that sits and rules above the clouds


Doth hear and see the prayers of the just,


And will revenge the blood of innocents


That Guise hath slain by treason of his heart,


And brought by murder to their timeless ends.


Christopher Marlowe


The Massacre at Paris (1593)


The mind is its own place, and in itself


Can make a Heav’n of Hell, a Hell of Heav’n.


John Milton


Paradise Lost, Book I (1667)


I have said before


That the past experience revived in the meaning


Is not the experience of one life only


But of many generations – not forgetting


Something that is probably quite ineffable:


The backward look behind the assurance


Of recorded history, the backward half-look


Over the shoulder, towards the primitive terror.


T. S. Eliot


‘The Dry Salvages’, Four Quartets (1941)





   

   

Historical Note
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The Wars of Religion in France were a sequence of civil wars which began, after years of grumbling conflict, on 1 March 1562 with the massacre of unarmed Huguenots in Vassy by the Catholic forces of François, Duke of Guise. They ended, after several million had died or been displaced, with the signing of the Edict of Nantes on 13 April 1598 by the formerly Protestant King, Henri IV or Henri of Navarre. The most notorious engagement of the Wars of Religion is the St Bartholomew’s Day Massacre in Paris, which began in the early hours of 24 August 1572. But there were many such slaughters the length and breadth of France both before and after it, including in Toulouse in 1562 (the period covered in The Burning Chambers) and copycat massacres that occurred in twelve major cities following the Paris massacre in 1572.


The events of spring and summer 1572 leading up to and immediately after the St Bartholomew’s Day Massacre – the death of Jeanne d’Albret, the marriage of Marguerite de Valois to Henri of Navarre, the assassination of Admiral de Coligny and the responsibility for ordering the massacre itself – have been heavily interpreted, not to say fictionalised, by generations of librettists, artists, filmmakers, playwrights and novelists, key amongst them Christopher Marlowe, Prosper Mérimée and Jean Plaidy. However, the most enduring creative interpretation of the real historical events is Alexandre Dumas’s 1845 novel La Reine Margot. In this same spirit I, too, have allowed myself a certain amount of artistic speculation and licence . . .


Henri IV, the first Bourbon monarch of France, converted to Catholicism (for the second time and for good) in July 1593 – in an attempt to unite his fractured kingdom and win over France’s fiercely Catholic capital city – reputedly with the words: ‘Paris vaut bien une messe’: Paris is well worth a Mass . . . He was crowned in Chartres in February 1594 and his excommunication was lifted a year later.


The Edict of Nantes, when it came into force in 1598, was perhaps less a genuine reflection of a desire for true religious tolerance than an expression of exhaustion and military stalemate. It brought a grudging peace to a country that had torn itself apart over matters of doctrine, religion, citizenship and sovereignty – and all but bankrupted itself in the process.


Henri IV’s grandson, Louis XIV, revoked the Edict of Nantes at Fontainebleau on 22 October 1685, precipitating the forced exodus of those Huguenots still remaining in France. Every country which accepted the refugees was enriched by their presence – indeed, the word ‘refugee’ comes from ‘refugié’, a French word first used to describe the Huguenots.


The Eighty Years War in the Low Countries was no less complicated. Beginning in 1568, it was a revolt of the Seventeen Provinces – what are today the Netherlands, Belgium and Luxembourg – against the violent occupation of Hapsburg Spain. Under the leadership of the Prince of Orange, Willem the Silent, the invasion forces under the Duke of Alba – working for Philip II of Spain – were eventually expelled from the north and west of the country. On 18 February 1578, the Satisfaction was signed, reconciling Amsterdam and Holland, and on 29 May that same year, Amsterdam – the last major city in Holland remaining Catholic – finally became Calvinist in what was known as the Alteration. What is extraordinary, in the context of the bloody history of the times, is that no one was killed. I have allowed myself many artistic liberties in the imagining of this event, too.


Hollanders, Frisians, Zeelanders, Gelderlanders and others gradually started to think of themselves as Dutch. On 26 July 1581, the Provinces signed the Act of Abjuration, the first step to self-rule for the Netherlands. In 1588, the Republic of the Seven United Provinces was established and in 1609, one year before the assassination of Henri IV in Paris, the Dutch Republic was recognised. All the same, it would be another generation before the Peace of Munster was signed in 1648, marking the end of the Eighty Years War and the beginning of the so-called Golden Age of the seventeenth century.


The story of French Protestantism and the beginning of the Dutch Republic are both part of the larger European story of the Reformation – from Martin Luther hammering his ninety-five Theses to the church door in Wittenberg on 31 October 1517, Henry VIII of England’s dissolution of the monasteries, which began in 1536, to the missionary Evangelist Calvin setting up his safe haven in Geneva for French refugees in 1541, and the sanctuary offered to Protestant refugees in Amsterdam and Rotterdam from the late 1560s onwards. Key points at issue were: the right to worship in one’s own language; a rejection of the cult of relics and intercession; a more rigorous focus on the words of the Bible itself and a desire to worship simply, based on the rules for living laid down in scripture; a rejection of the excesses and abuses of the Catholic Church that were repugnant to many; and the nature of the host in communion. For most people, though, these matters of doctrine were remote.


There are many excellent histories of the Huguenots and the influence of this small community is extraordinary, a diaspora that took them – as skilled immigrants – to Holland, Germany, England, Ireland, the New World, Canada, Russia, Denmark, Sweden, Switzerland and South Africa. The origins of the word ‘Huguenot’ are unclear, though there are indications that initially it might have been a term of abuse and contemporary followers tended to refer to themselves as members of l’Église Réformée or the Reformed Church. For the sake of the narrative, however, I have used Protestant, Calvinist and Huguenot within the text.


The City of Tears is the second in a series of novels set against this backdrop of three hundred years of history, travelling from sixteenth-century France and Amsterdam to the Cape of Good Hope in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The characters and their families, unless otherwise specified, are imagined, though inspired by the kind of people who might have lived: ordinary women and men, struggling to live, love and survive against a backdrop of religious war and displacement.


Then, as now.


Kate Mosse


Carcassonne, Amsterdam & Chichester


January 2020





   



Principal Characters


[image: image]


IN PUIVERT


Marguerite (Minou) Reydon-Joubert, Châtelaine of Puivert


Piet Reydon, her husband


Marta, their daughter


Jean-Jacques, their son


Salvadora Boussay, her aunt


Aimeric Joubert, her brother


Alis Joubert, her sister


Bernard Joubert, her father


IN PARIS & CHARTRES


Vidal du Plessis (Cardinal Valentin), Personal Confessor to Henri, Duke of Guise & later Lord Evreux


Louis (Volusien), his illegitimate son


Xavier, his steward & manservant


Pierre Cabanel, a captain in the Catholic militia


Antoine le Maistre, a Huguenot refugee from Limoges


IN AMSTERDAM


Mariken Hassels, a Beguine


Willem van Raay, a wealthy grain merchant & Catholic burgher


Cornelia van Raay, his daughter


The Mistress of Begijnhof


Jacob Pauw, a Catholic burgher


Jan Houtman, a Calvinist soldier during the Alteration


Joost Wouter, a Calvinist mercenary


Bernarda Joubert, Minou’s youngest daughter


HISTORICAL CHARACTERS


Catherine de’ Medici, Stateswoman & Queen of France; mother to three Valois kings – François II, Charles IX and Henri III (1519–1589)


Marguerite de Valois, Queen Consort of Navarre & Catherine’s daughter (1553–1615)


Henri of Navarre & the first Bourbon King of France (1553–1610)


Admiral Gaspard de Coligny, military leader of the Huguenots (1519–1572)


Henri, Duke of Guise & founder of the Catholic League (1550–1588)









   



PROLOGUE
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FRANSCHHOEK



28 February 1862


The woman is lying beneath a white sheet in a white room, dreaming of colour.


Hier Rust. Here lies.


She is no longer in the graveyard. Is she?


The woman is caught between sleeping and waking, surfacing from a place of shadows to a world of harsh light. She lifts her hand to her head and, though she feels the split skin on her temple, finds there is no blood. Her shoulder aches. She imagines it purple with bruises where his fingers pressed and pinched. Pictures now how the tan leather journal fell from her unwilling hand down onto the red Cape soil. That is the last thing she remembers. That, and the words she carries with her.


This is the day of my death.


The woman opens her eyes. The room is indistinct and unknown, but it is a typical room in a Cape Dutch homestead. White walls, plain but for a piece of embroidery with verses from the Bible on the wall. Bare-board floors, a chest of drawers and a nightstand made of stinkwood. On her journey from Cape Town, through Stellenbosch and Drakenstein and Paarl, she has lodged in many such houses. Settlers’ houses, some grand and some small, but each with a nostalgia for Amsterdam and the life left behind.


The woman sits up and swings her legs off the bed. Her head spins and she waits a moment for the sickness to pass. She feels the wooden floor through her stockinged feet. Her white shirt and her riding skirt are stained with red dust, but someone has removed her boots and placed them at the foot of the bed. Her leather hat is hanging from a hook on the back of the wooden door. On the chest of drawers stands a brass tray with an earthenware jug of wine – strong local wine the colour of cherries – and a piece of white bread and strips of dried beef beneath a cloth.


She does not understand. Is she prisoner or guest?


Unsteady on her feet, the woman moves to the door and finds it locked. Then she hears the whistling of a chattering of starlings outside. She laces her boots, walks to the window. A small square frame with thin metal bars on the inside. To keep her in or to keep others out?


She reaches through the bars and pushes open the glass. The sky at dusk in the Cape is the same as it is in Languedoc. White, with a wash of pink as the sun sets behind the mountains. The woman can see the chapel at the top of the town; another small white building in the Cape Dutch style, with a thatched roof and peak-arched windows either side of the arched wooden entrance. Ever since the new church opened its doors to its Protestant congregation a few years ago, it has served as the school. The sight of it gives her hope, for at least she is still within the boundaries of the town. If he meant to kill her, surely he would have taken her up into the mountains and done it there?


Away from prying eyes.


She can make out the fruit orchards, too, growing Cape damsel and damask plums, sweet saffron pears and apples hanging from the trees; in these weeks she has learnt to identify each variety and the farmers who grow them: the Hugo family and the Haumanns, the de Villiers and descendants of the du Toits.


Now she can hear the rise and fall of girls’ voices playing a skipping game. A mixture of Dutch and English, no French, the legacy of years of struggle for control of this stolen land. The Cape is once again a British colony, the main road renamed Victoria Street in honour of the English Queen. Further away, the plangent singing of the men coming home from the fields. Another language, one she does not recognise.


Her feeling of relief is fleeting. Quickly, it gives way to grief at the loss of the journal, the map, the precious Will and Testament which has been in her family for hundreds of years. Though the journal is gone from her possession, she knows every word of it off by heart. She knows every crease of the map, the terms and provisions of the Will. As she waits and waits, and the light fades from the sky, she thinks she hears the voices of her ancestors calling to her across the centuries.


‘Château de Puivert. Saturday, the third day of May, in the year of Grace of Our Lord fifteen hundred and seventy-two.’


Then her sorrow at the loss of the documents turns into fear. If he has not killed her yet, it can only be because there is something more he wants from her. She regrets her caution now. Remembers reaching to scrape the lichen from the stone. She shivers at the memory of the cold muzzle of the gun and his pitiless voice. His shadow, the smell of sweat and clinker, a glimpse of white in his black hair.


She’d drawn her knife, but had only grazed his hand. It was not enough.


The light is fading from the sky and the air is still, though filled with the whining and the buzzing of insects. The children are taken inside and, in every house, pinpricks of light appear as candles are lit. Though she is tired, the woman keeps vigil at the window. She picks at the bread and drinks only a little of the smooth Cape wine, then pours the rest out of the window. She cannot afford to dull her senses.


She sits on the end of the bed, and waits.


The church bell in its solitary white tower chimes the hour. Nine o’clock, ten o’clock. Outside, darkness has fallen. The mountains have faded into shadow. On Victoria Street and the criss-cross of smaller roads and alleyways, the candles are extinguished one by one. Franschhoek is a town that goes early to bed and rises with the sun.


It is not until past eleven o’clock, when she is fighting sleep and the throbbing in her head has started again, that she hears a sound from inside the house. Instantly, she is on her feet.


Footsteps on the floorboards beyond the door, but quiet. Walking slowly, as if trying not to be heard. She has had hours to decide what to do, but it is instinct that takes over now.


She slips behind the door, holding the empty wine vessel in her hand. Listens to the rattle of a key being pushed into the lock, then the clunk of the catch as it gives and the door is slowly opening inwards. In the dark, she cannot see properly, but she glimpses the flash of white hair and smells the leather of his jacket so, the instant he is within reach, she launches the earthenware jug at the height of his head.


She misjudges. She aims too high and though the man staggers, he does not fall. She throws herself towards the open door, intending to try to get past, but he is faster. He grabs her wrist and pushes her backwards into the room, clamping a hand over her mouth.


‘Be quiet, you little fool! You’ll get us both killed.’


Immediately, she is still. It is a different voice. And in the moonlight filtering through the window, she can see the back of his hand. No sign of where her knife grazed her assailant’s skin. And, seeming to trust her, the man releases her and takes a step away.


‘Monsieur, forgive me,’ she says. ‘I thought you were him.’


‘No harm done,’ he says, also speaking in French.


Now, in the silver shadows, she can see his face. He is taller than her attacker in the graveyard and his black hair is shorter, though split through by the same twist of white.


‘You do look like him.’


‘Yes.’


She waits for him to say more, but he does not.


‘Why am I here?’ she asks.


He holds up his hand. ‘We have to go. We have little time.’


The woman shakes her head. ‘Not until you tell me who you are.’


‘We –’ He hesitates. ‘I saw what happened in the graveyard. I’ve had to wait until now. He’s my brother.’


She crosses her arms, not knowing whether she should trust this man or not. Waits.


‘We do not see eye to eye.’


Again, she expects him to say more, but he glances at the door and is restless to be gone.


‘Whose house is this?’ she asks.


‘It belongs to our mother. She is bedridden, she doesn’t know you are here. None of this is her fault.’ He briefly touches her hand. ‘Please, come with me. I will answer all your questions once we are safely out of Franschhoek.’


‘Where is your brother now?’


‘Drinking, but he will be back at any moment. We must go. I have horses waiting at the eastern boundary of the town.’


She unfolds her arms. ‘And if I don’t come with you?’


The man looks directly at her and she sees the determination, the concern too, in his eyes.


‘He will kill you.’


The calm statement convinces her better than any entreaty or fierce persuasion could. Better to take her chance with this stranger than to remain here, passive and waiting for what the dawn might bring. She takes her hat from the back of the door.


‘Will you tell me your name?’ she whispers, as she follows him along the dark corridor and towards a door at the rear of the house.


He puts his finger to his lips.


‘Will you at least tell me where we are going?’


He hesitates, then answers. ‘To the old stone bridge across the ford. The others are waiting there.’


‘I don’t understand.’


‘Jan Joubertsgat,’ he says. ‘Where Jan Joubert died.’ He turns. ‘Isn’t that why you are here?’


The woman catches her breath, feeling suddenly exposed. ‘You know who I am?’


The man’s face creases into a smile. ‘Of course,’ he says, unhooking the latch and pushing open the door. ‘Everyone knows who you are.’
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AMSTERDAM & PUIVERT



May & June 1572









   



CHAPTER ONE
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BEGIJNHOF, AMSTERDAM



Thursday, 22 May 1572




Old Mariken knelt before the altar of the chapel in Begijnhof, as she had each night since receiving the letter, and prayed for guidance.


Written in an elegant hand, on fine paper, sealed with wax and a noble crest; it was her duty to answer. Yet the days had passed and still she had not replied. The words seemed to burn through her clothing, branding her skin with the hiss of calumny. A promise made thirty years ago at a deathbed in a boarding house off Kalverstraat.


‘Heer, leid mij,’ Mariken whispered. ‘Lord, guide me.’


The author of the letter was a French cardinal, a powerful man. It would not do to refuse him. The request for information about the boy and his mother seemed harmless, couched in plain and reasonable language. There was no cause for alarm. Yet Mariken could sense a malignancy beneath the official words. She feared if she gave his Eminence what he sought, not only would she be breaking her vow to a dying woman, but she would also be signing the boy’s death warrant. Such knowledge as she possessed was powerful and dangerous.


For an instant, Mariken smiled at her foolishness. If the boy still lived, then he was a man of some thirty-five years standing. Yet he was forever fixed in her memory as a child sobbing over the cold body of his mother, clasping a package given to him. Mariken had entrusted the package to her friend, Sister Agatha, for safekeeping, intending to retrieve it and return it to the boy when the time was right. But in the passage of the years, she had forgotten about it. She never knew what was in the package, though she suspected what it might contain. A common enough story: details of a betrothal, a promise made and broken, an illegitimate birth, another woman ruined.


‘Domine, exaudi orationem meum.’ Lord, hear my prayer.


Mariken’s words echoed loud in the empty space, too loud. Her heart stumbled and she turned from the altar, fearful of being discovered alone in the chapel at such an hour of the night. But no one lifted the latch, no one stepped into the nave.


She raised her eyes to the Cross and wondered if anyone else would remember Marta Reydon and her son. She doubted it. Most of her companions of those days were gone. Though many years had passed, she still prayed for Marta’s soul. She had been a woman as ill-served in death as she had been ill-used in life.


Mariken had first made Marta’s acquaintance in the alleyways around the old parish church of Sint Nicolaas, where the women who sold themselves to the sailors coming off the ships gathered. Mariken and her friend Sister Agatha, a nun from a nearby convent, had done what they could for the poor creatures.


Mariken shook her head. It was so long ago. Her memories had lost their colour. Her fist tightened around the letter concealed beneath her long plain robes. She could delay no longer. It would go ill for her if she failed to furnish the cardinal with the details he wanted – no, the confirmation of what he appeared already to know. For although the Beguines were religious women, not cloistered nuns, they, too, took a vow of obedience and service, and their community also needed protection in these lawless times. Though Amsterdam had not yet joined the Protestant rebels, Mariken feared it was but a matter of time before the city fell. The Calvinists were gathering at the gates. Many of their Catholic sisters and brothers had already been forced from their convents and monasteries and quiet gardens, and had fled. The Mistress of Begijnhof would expect her to do her duty to the Holy Mother Church.


All the same.


When receiving the letter, Mariken had first made inquiries up towards the harbour, where information could be bought in the taverns of Zeedijk and Nieuwendijk for the right price. Then, she had turned to a powerful acquaintance on Warmoesstraat. A wealthy grain merchant, Willem van Raay was a pious man, a discreet man, a keeper of secrets. Mariken had nursed his daughter back to health some years previously, so she trusted him well enough to ask if he might have heard of a Pieter Reydon, or if there was gossip about why so eminent a French cardinal might have his gaze fixed upon Amsterdam. He had taken a letter for Reydon, to pass on if he managed to find him, and promised to investigate.


But two weeks had passed and still she had heard nothing.


Mariken accepted now the only thing was to call upon Willem van Raay in person. It was another burden on her conscience. They were forbidden to go out during the day without permission and, since she could not confide her reasons for wishing to leave the community, she would have to lie. At least by slipping out at night, she tried to persuade herself, she was avoiding that second transgression.


She had purloined the key to the outer gate earlier, though she hadn’t absolutely decided to use it: not least, Mariken didn’t relish the thought of being out unaccompanied in the dark streets at such an hour. But God would surely watch over her. Once she had spoken to Burgher van Raay, she would have information enough to compose an appropriate letter to the cardinal and her conscience would be clear. The burden would be lifted from her shoulders.


Mariken crossed herself and rose slowly to her weary feet, still feeling the cold imprint of the tiles on her knees. Every single bone seemed to ache with the pain of living.


She rearranged her falie over her wisps of grey hair and went out into the night. It was dark in the courtyard, though a few midnight candles were burning in one or two of the wooden houses around the green. The brook babbled its night-time song between the thorn bushes. Mariken glanced up at the Mistress’s window, praying she had not woken and found the key gone, and was relieved to see her window was dark.


Fearful and troubled, Mariken fumbled and dropped the key. In all her years in the community she had never disobeyed the rules in such a manner. Her old heart thumping, she finally succeeded in unlocking the gate. She stepped onto Begijnensloot and into the narrow medieval streets beyond the bridge. Mariken was so anxious that she did not observe the shadows shimmer behind her. As she crossed Kalverstraat, head bowed, she did not feel the shifting of the air. So when the blow came, pitching her forward into the Amstel, she had no time to think.


Like many Amsterdammers who lived their lives ringed by canals, Mariken could not swim. As the first mouthful of water filled her lungs, she just had time to think how glad she was that now she could not be forced to betray the trust placed in her. She was aware of a man standing on the quay watching her drown. As her heavy grey robes quickly pulled her under, Mariken prayed that the boy Pieter and his mother would, in time, be reunited in God’s grace.


And that the cardinal would never know the truth.











   



CHAPTER TWO
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Two Weeks Later


CHÂTEAU DE PUIVERT, LANGUEDOC



Friday, 6 June


There was barely a whisper of wind.


Minou held her long, pale fingers to her temples and pressed. Her head continued to pound. She could feel the approaching storm in the prickling of her skin and the sheen of sweat at the base of her throat.


Her family would be gathering now to hear her decision. She could delay no longer, yet still she hesitated. Minou glanced around the musicians’ gallery. The familiarity of it soothed her spirits. But when she turned back to the window, and saw black storm clouds mustering above the valley, unease caught in her chest.


What should she do?


Minou loosened the high collar at her neck, the brocade stiff between her finger and thumb. It was unlike her to be so indecisive. She presumed it was because so many of her family were here, bringing back dark memories of the last time they had all been together in Puivert.*


‘Les fantômes d’été,’ she murmured. The ghosts of summer.


Blood and sinew and bone. The thrust of the sword and the swing of the rope, the roar of the fire as it took hold in the northern woods. Many had been lost between that dawn and dusk.


Ten years had passed. The forest had come back to life. New green shoots had replaced the black, charred trunks, soft dappled light painting new pathways between the trees. A carpet of pink and yellow woodland flowers blossomed in the spring. But if the land no longer bore the scars of the tragedy, Minou still did. She carried the horror of what she had witnessed deep inside her, like a shifting splinter of glass. She never forgot how closely Death had walked beside them. How his breath had scorched her cheek.


It was why she had invited her whole family to a service of remembrance in the chapel to mark the anniversary and to lay the past to rest once and for all. Afterwards, Minou had gone alone into the woods and laid flowers at the overgrown grave of the previous châtelaine of Puivert. There had been other tributes, poesies and scraps of ribbon. A Latin prayer. For although the castle was now a Huguenot enclave, many in the surrounding countryside remained committed to the old Catholic faith. The flourishing Église Saint-Marcel in the village of Puivert below attested to that.


As if mirroring the pattern of her thoughts, the bells of the church began to call the hour. Minou picked up her journal. It was her custom to write in the afternoons, carrying parchment and ink up to the open viewing point at the top of the keep. It was her way of linking the girl she had been to the woman she had become. So, though duty was calling, she decided to allow herself a few moments more of solitude. Writing helped her make sense of the world, a testimony on life as she lived it. Writing, if nothing else, would calm her conflicted thoughts.


Quitting the chamber, Minou climbed the narrow stone staircase to the roof, up steps worn thin by generations. At the narrow landing at the top of the keep, she took her old green travelling cloak from its hook beside the door, lifted the latch and was about to step out onto the roof when a voice rang out below.


‘Maman!’


Feeling as if she had been caught out, she turned quickly.


‘Je suis ici, petite.’


Minou heard footsteps, then the inquisitive face of her seven-year-old daughter appeared on the floor below. Marta was never still, in body or mind. Always rushing, always impatient. As usual she was holding her linen cap, stitched with her initials, crumpled in her hand.


‘Maman, where are you?’


Minou took her fingers from the latch. ‘Up here.’


‘Ah.’ Marta peered into the gloom and nodded. ‘I see you now. Papa says it is time. It is past four o’clock. Everyone is waiting in the solar.’


‘Tell Papa I will be there presently.’


She heard Marta draw breath to protest but then, for once, think better of it.


‘Oui, Maman.’


‘In point of fact, Marta, could you also ask Papa to –’


But only the echo of Minou’s own voice swam back at her. Her quicksilver daughter had already gone.


PUIVERT WOODS



The assassin crouched in the tangled undergrowth, his finger and thumb stiff in position around the wheel-lock pistol. His gaze was fixed upon the highest point of the castle.


He was ready, had been so since first light. He had made his confession and prayed for deliverance. He had laid his offering at the grave in the woods of the previous châtelaine, a pious and devout Catholic lady murdered by Huguenot vermin. His soul was pure. Shriven.


He was ready to kill.


On this day, he would rid Puivert of the cancer of heresy and be blessed for it. He would purify the land. For ten years, the Protestant harlot, an imposter, had filled the château de Puivert with refugees from the wars. She had given sanctuary to those who should be driven down into the fires of Hell. She’d taken food from the mouths of the true Catholics who belonged here.


No more. Today he would fulfil his vow. Soon, the bells of the castle would ring out for Mass once more.


‘Thou shalt not suffer a heretic to live.’


Had not the eminent priest preached those very words from the pulpit in Carcassonne? Had he not fixed him with a gimlet eye, selecting him of all the congregation to fulfil God’s command? Had he not given him benediction and provided him with the means?


The assassin’s right hand tightened on the pistol, as his left slipped to the heavy purse hanging at his waist next to his rosary. Though his greatest reward for his most Christian service would come in the hereafter, it was only fair he should have some credit on this earth too.


The man rolled his shoulders and flexed his fingers. He could be patient. He was a poacher by trade, well used to tracking and hunting his prey. The blood-stained sack at his feet gave testament to his skill. A rabbit and an entire colony of rats. The kitchen gardens in the upper courtyard of the castle attracted all kinds of scavengers. It would have been a sin not to profit from his presence there.


The assassin shifted position, feeling the taut muscles spasm in his right thigh. He looked up through the canopy of green leaves. The sun was shrouded by dark clouds as he heard the solitary toll of the village bell strike the hour. The Huguenot whore customarily took the air at the top of the keep at this time in the afternoon, so why did she not show herself today?


He listened, alert to the slightest sound, hoping for the creak of the wooden door. He heard nothing save for the rumble of distant thunder in the mountains and foxes on the slopes of the garrigue beyond the boundary of the woods.


It was God’s will that the heretic should die. If not today, then tomorrow. France would never be great again until the last Protestant had been driven from her shores. They were the enemy within. Man, woman, child – it mattered not. Dead, imprisoned, exiled – it mattered not. Only that the wound be cauterised.


The assassin sat back to wait for his quarry. At his feet the blood of his catch continued to seep through the hessian of the sack, staining the green woodland grasses red. 









   



CHAPTER THREE
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SAINT-ANTONIN, QUERCY



In the burnt-out ruins of the Augustinian monastery, a boy stood in silence in the shadow of the blackened church where so many Catholics had died. In his dreams at night, he could still hear their screams. He could see the woman’s bloodied face, her cracked voice telling him to run, to save himself.


The priest’s thin fingers pressed down hard on his narrow shoulders, pinching and tensing with each word uttered to the cardinal standing on the broken steps in front of them. The boy did not understand why he’d been ordered to gather his few belongings or to what purpose he had been brought here, only that something of significance was about to take place.


‘I should not have been so bold as to trespass upon your time, Cardinal,’ the priest stuttered. ‘Your Eminence, I beg your pardon.’


The boy felt a ball of spittle strike the back of his neck. It trickled down between his cap and his collar. He did not move. If he could withstand the rod upon his bare back and the kiss of the fire against his naked legs, he could withstand this, too.


‘I would not have trespassed, had I not felt it my duty to inform you . . .’


‘Such a sense of pious duty is commendable in these dark times,’ the cardinal replied.


It was the first time the visitor had spoken and the boy struggled not to raise his eyes and look at the stranger’s face. A voice of distinction, of authority and power.


‘Of course, you can rely upon my discretion, Cardinal –’


‘Of course.’


‘– but the good fortune of your presence in our beleaguered town is the answer to our prayers. A sign from God. That someone of your stature should –’


‘Who else knows of this matter?’


‘No one,’ the priest answered hastily, his fingers spasming so fiercely that the boy knew he was lying.


‘Is that so,’ the visitor said drily.


‘We have learnt to hold our tongues. In this part of France, in this godless town, we are pariahs. Outcasts. A stray word would bring the Huguenot dogs back to our doors. We are so close to Montauban. So many Catholics have been sacrificed.’


The visitor’s voice did not soften. ‘Provided you hold fast to God’s commands, He will protect the righteous.’


‘Yes, of course, your Eminence.’ The boy heard the pause, the intake of breath. ‘All the same, our church in hiding would benefit from your largesse.’


‘Ah, so we come to it,’ the cardinal murmured.


‘Only so we may continue to bring God’s word to the faithful who live in fear, you understand.’


Another bead of spit dribbled down the boy’s neck. This time he could not prevent himself from shuddering.


‘Oh, make no mistake,’ the cardinal said coldly. ‘I understand.’


For a moment there was silence. The boy forced himself to keep his eyes fixed firmly on the ground: a square of dry earth, a scattering of white pebbles, blades of trampled grass. The visitor moved and he caught a glimpse of the red hem of his robes: fine cloth, dark stitched shoes without a speck of dust on the toes.


‘You need have no fear that there will be any further calls upon your charity after this,’ the priest added, attempting to drive home his advantage.


The visitor exhaled. ‘I have no fear of that.’


‘No, my lord?’


‘You are a man of true faith, are you not? A man of your word.’


‘I am known in Saint-Antonin for a most pious man.’


The boy heard the vanity in the priest’s voice and wondered at it. Did he not realise he was being mocked, not flattered? He was a vicious and crafty man, but a fool all the same. Then he felt the jab of the priest’s hands in the small of his back.


‘The boy is strong, healthy. From noble stock.’


‘What proof do you have?’


‘This.’ The boy felt the cap pulled from his head. ‘And his mother’s confession.’


Now he felt the full force of the visitor’s gaze upon him.


‘Look at me, boy. There’s no need to be afraid.’


He raised his head and looked into the face of the stranger for the first time. Tall, with pale skin and dark brows, his cardinal’s red robes were all but concealed by a hooded, black cloak. He had never seen him before.


And yet. There was something.


‘I am not afraid, sire,’ he lied.


‘How old are you?’


‘He has seen nine summers,’ the priest replied.


‘Let him speak for himself. He has a tongue in his head.’


To the boy’s astonishment, the visitor removed one of his leather gloves and reached out to touch the white streak in his hair, the cause of so much of his ill treatment. A devil’s mark, a sign of pestilence. Countless men of the cloth had tried to rid him of it by plucking out the hairs. Always, they grew back whiter than before. The visitor rubbed his thumb and forefinger together, then replaced his glove and nodded.


‘It is not chalk. There is no intent to deceive.’


The visitor gave no indication he had heard, only reached beneath his robes and produced a small hessian bag. The priest’s eyes widened with greed.


‘No more will be spoken of this.’


‘Of course, your Eminence. The boy’s mother died at his birth. He has been raised in the love and affection of our Holy Mother Church. We let him go with great reluctance.’


The visitor ignored his words.


‘Would you come with me, boy? Would you serve me?’


The boy thought of the priest’s flaccid white flesh and his shrivelled member hanging between his thin legs, the quiet weeping of the other boys who failed to understand that showing weakness only encouraged a greater cruelty.


‘Yes, sire.’


The faintest of smiles flickered across the visitor’s face.


‘Very well. If you are to serve me, I should know your name.’


‘Volusien is the name my mother gave me.’


‘But he goes by Louis,’ interrupted the priest. ‘His guardian thought it more suitable for a child of his unfortunate situation.’


The visitor narrowed his eyes. ‘Unfortunate?’


The boy saw the priest flush an ugly red, and he wondered at it, but now the visitor was holding out the bag. The priest stretched out a rapacious hand but, at the last moment – too quickly for Louis to be sure if it was accident or by design – the prize was let fall. The coins rattled loose to the ground.


‘Come, boy.’


He hesitated, caught between excitement and fear. ‘Am I to accompany you now, sire?’


‘You are,’ the cardinal said, turning and walking away.


Louis stood fixed by the sight of his tormentor on his knees harvesting his blood money, and realised he felt nothing. What reserves of pity or compassion Louis had once possessed had been beaten out of him in the orphanage. He did not even feel disgust.


He ran to catch up. Was he to be an equerry or a page? He had dreamt of such things, though never with expectation. He had never known his mother – only that there was some shame about his circumstances and that his guardians resented the care of him.


As they turned the corner of the ruined church, two men stepped out of the shadows. Kerchiefs were tied across their faces and their blades were unsheathed. Louis instantly raised his fists, ready to defend his new master, but instead felt the weight of the visitor’s hand on his head like a blessing.


The cardinal nodded.


The men walked away and out of sight. Moments later, a sound somewhere between a squeal and a grunt split the still air, then silence. The visitor paused, as if to be sure, then continued forward to where a carriage-and-pair stood waiting.


‘Come, boy.’


‘My lord.’


Though Louis had never before left Saint-Antonin and had never received any formal schooling, he was sharp witted. He watched and he listened. So at this extraordinary moment, on this extraordinary day, he recognised the thistle crest and colours of the Duke of Guise.


His head was spinning, wondering if the misery he knew was about to be replaced by something worse. He had no choice but to go. All the same, as he climbed up into the carriage, he found the courage to ask one more question.


‘How should I address you? I would not offend through ignorance.’


The cardinal gave a cold smile. ‘We will see, Volusien known as Louis,’ he replied. ‘We shall see.’











   



CHAPTER FOUR
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CHÂTEAU DE PUIVERT, LANGUEDOC



As Minou hurried down the narrow steps from the keep, she heard the first rumble of thunder. She could not believe how the time had flown. She’d intended only to write for a few minutes, but nigh on an hour had passed.


The afternoon shadows had lengthened and the oppressive early heat of the day had been replaced by a silent chill. The air sparked with a sense of threat and menace. Minou shook her head, impatient. There was no prophecy in the sky. A summer storm in the Pyrenees was far from unusual at this time of year. Though the villagers were inclined to see each and every one as a portent of some catastrophe or judgement, she believed it was Nature, not the designs of God, that shaped the world.


Minou paused at the foot of the steps and glanced back at the coat of arms carved above the main door to the tower with the letters b and p – for Bruyère and Puivert. For ten years, she had been Marguerite de Bruyère, Châtelaine of the castle of Puivert, its lands and its living. The Bruyère family had built the fortified square tower in the thirteenth century and, when coming into her unexpected inheritance, Minou had taken the name as her birthright. But although she’d come to love this green valley set in the foothills of the mighty Pyrenees – and was proud of the refuge it had become for all those of the Reformed faith fleeing persecution – the title meant nothing to her. She considered herself a custodian of Puivert, nothing more.


Her married name – Reydon – was a gift bestowed upon her by her husband, Piet, courtesy of the French father he had never known. His affection lay with his Dutch mother, Marta, lying some thirty years dead in a graveyard in Amsterdam. Their daughter was named for her.


The truth was she was still – and ever would be – Minou Joubert. Those two words painted the truest portrait of the woman she was.


In the woods beyond the castle walls, the assassin jolted awake, his pistol still in his hand.


Had he missed his quarry?


He threw his gaze up to the keep. There was no one there. No glimpse of the green cloak. The door to the roof was still firmly shut. He rubbed his face with a grimy hand, then stiffened at another sound, this time in the undergrowth behind him. He put the pistol down and, slowly, moved his hand to the hunting knife at his waist.


He narrowed his gaze. The rabbit, sensing danger, raised its ears and turned tail. Too slow, too late. The blade flew through the air, striking the animal in its soft, white belly. The assassin went to claim his prey, pulling his weapon free with a gush of guts and fur.


Taking the creature by the scruff of its neck, dripping a trail of blood on the ground, he added it to his sack. Whether or not the Protestant harlot showed her face this afternoon, he’d had a good day’s work all in all.


The assassin wiped the knife on the sleeve of his jerkin, took a mouthful of ale from his flask. He checked that his box of gunpowder and shot were still dry, then settled back to wait. The afternoon was not yet over. There were many hours more of light. It was close to the longest day of the year.


Composing herself, Minou looked across the courtyard to the main family dwelling as the door opened and her husband strode out.


‘Minou, at last! It’s almost five o’clock.’


She rushed forward and held out her hands. ‘I am sorry.’


Piet frowned. ‘We have been waiting on your arrival in the solar.’


‘I know.’ She kissed him on the cheek. ‘I was writing and lost track of the hour. Will you forgive me?’


His expression softened. ‘As if, after all this time, I still do not know what happens when the words claim you!’


‘Truly I am sorry.’


A match for one another in height, they walked slowly together back towards the house. Minou could see the spider’s web of lines around her husband’s eyes and how his shoulders hunched, and wondered what was troubling him. She knew the music of Piet’s heart as well as she knew her own. But in the past few weeks – no, longer – she had felt a drift of distance between them. He had taken several unplanned journeys to Carcassonne and, even when at home, he had held his innermost thoughts close.


‘How goes it with you, my love?’ she asked lightly.


‘All is well,’ he said, but his attention was clearly elsewhere.


Since the Battle of Jarnac some three years past – an engagement that had cost Piet the use of his fighting arm – her husband had been obliged to lay down his sword and find other ways of serving the cause. He had organised secure networks of messengers to carry confidential orders, arranged safe passage for their refugee brothers and sisters from Catholic-held cities in France to Huguenot enclaves, and raised significant monies to keep the rebel Calvinist forces in the Dutch Provinces in boot leather.


Piet had followed reports of the Protestant rebellion there with great attention. When word of the success of the Watergeuzen, the Sea Beggars, vanquishing the Spanish forces in the north reached Puivert, Minou remembered how it had grieved him that he had not been alongside them on the battlefield, especially now as Amsterdam was teetering on the brink between the old faith and the new.


She glanced at him. Minou thought he’d accepted his situation, but perhaps she was mistaken. It was why her decision about Paris was so important. It would be a chance for Piet not only to be reacquainted with many of his former comrades but also to be at the heart of things once more. God willing, the adventure would give back to her husband something of what he had lost.


‘Are you resolved, Minou?’ he said, as they reached the threshold.


‘I am,’ she lied.


A rumble of thunder rolled over the distant hills.


‘You are sure? We could wait another day if—’


Minou squeezed his arm, touched by the hope in his voice. ‘You have done nothing but wait, my love. The anniversary has come and gone, everyone is here assembled, June advances.’ There was another rumble of dry thunder, then a cuckoo calling. ‘There. No truer herald of the arrival of summer than that. There will be rain before nightfall.’


She heard him take a deep breath. ‘Minou, before we go in, there is something I must tell you . . . something I have wanted to say for some time.’


Minou felt her heart lurch. ‘You can tell me anything, you know that.’


‘Some weeks past, I learnt—’


‘Maman!’ their daughter shouted, leaning dangerously out from the casement overlooking the courtyard. ‘Hurry! We are all quite fatigued with waiting!’


‘Marta!’ Minou waved her hand. ‘It is not at all safe to hang out of the window like that, go back inside.’


‘Then come quickly.’


‘We will be there presently.’


Minou turned back to Piet. ‘Really, Marta is too bold. Quite fearless.’ She rested her hand on his cheek, feeling the stubble of his trimmed red beard, flecked with grey now, rough beneath her fingers. ‘What was it you wanted to tell me, mon coeur?’


Piet smiled. ‘No matter. It can wait. We are summoned!’


Minou laughed. ‘Mademoiselle Marta can be patient a moment longer.’


‘Not for all the violets in Toulouse would I try her patience further. We should go in.’


In the months and endless years to come, when Minou looked back, she saw this first quiet misunderstanding as the tipping point: that briefest of beats in time when – had Marta not called out – a different story might have been told.


But as Minou stood with her Piet in the upper courtyard of the château de Puivert on that day in June, she could not possibly have imagined how all the grief and pain she had suffered in the past would be as nothing compared to the loss and despair to come.











   



CHAPTER FIVE
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The main family living room, the solar, occupied the entire length of the first floor of the castle. A generous and comfortable chamber, benefiting from the best of the afternoon light, it was one of the first alterations they had made when taking possession of the castle. Minou had demolished several internal walls and reconfigured the stairwells and corridors so that no memory of the old chamber – or the abuses that had taken place within it – remained.


Three tall double-casement windows with latticed lights, each framed by brocade curtains, looked south over the upper courtyard. Above the door, a heavy single curtain hung on a brass pole. In summer it was held back by a thick rope tie, and kept drawn in winter to keep out the icy winds sweeping down from the mountains. There was a limestone fireplace with two wooden settles positioned at right angles on either side of the hearth with several upholstered footstools and high-back chairs set about. At the far end, a large dining table of walnut with two long benches filled the space, with an answering dresser and chest where the table linen and crockery were stored.


What gave the chamber its particular character were the wall hangings. Filling the space from floor to ceiling were two tapestries, commissioned by Minou from a Huguenot weaver in Carcassonne: one was a representation of Puivert; another was an artist’s impression of Begijnhof, the religious community in Amsterdam nestled between Singel and Kalverstraat. A third, much smaller, was a family portrait completed last winter.


As Minou stood with Piet on the threshold, she enjoyed a rare moment of seeing her loved ones unobserved: her father Bernard, his old eyes clouded and unseeing now but his wisdom undimmed; her sister Alis with her dark Midi complexion and her wild black curls tamed into a long plait, her solid and sturdy frame speaking of strength more than grace; next, her brother Aimeric, also stocky and strong and, though twenty-three years to Alis’s seventeen, so alike her that they might be taken for twins. He stood in conversation with their Aunt Salvadora, her double-chins swaddled in her black widow’s hood. Finally, Marta and two-year-old Jean-Jacques, listening to their grandfather recite a story of chevaliers and the Carcassonne court in medieval times that Minou remembered from her own childhood days.


Where their daughter favoured Minou in her appearance – not least in having the same mismatched eyes, one blue and the other brown – their son had Piet’s colouring: russet hair, green eyes and a freckled skin that owed more to his Dutch mother than his French ancestors.


Then the creak of a loose floorboard gave their presence away.


‘Enfin,’ cried Marta, throwing herself down from the window seat. ‘We are all quite worn out with waiting.’


‘You must learn to be patient, petite,’ Minou said fondly.


‘Aunt Salvadora says that in the royal rooms in the Louvre Palace, the most noble ladies wear skirts this wide.’ Marta spread her arms. ‘Too big to get through a doorway without turning sideways. Is that so? Because how would—’


‘That is not at all what I said,’ Salvadora objected. ‘I was explaining how the fashions of the court are intended to demonstrate the elegance and grandeur of the crown. Our noble king – and his sister and brothers – represent the best of France and, thus, must pay heed to the impression they give. In portraiture, as in their daily lives.’


Minou saw Aimeric and Alis exchange a look. They had no regard for the Valois court. Aunt Boussay was another matter. Despite her affection for her nieces and nephew – and theirs for her – Salvadora held true to the old faith in which she had been raised. Despite the rumours about King Charles, his tantrums and ill health – not to speak of the common knowledge that it was Catherine de’ Medici, the Queen Mother, who truly ruled at court – Madame Boussay would hear no word of censure against the royal family. Her admiration remained steadfast.


‘The ladies and gentlemen of the Paris court wear elegant attire for official occasions, but dress with less grandeur for the everyday, like us.’ Minou gestured to the delicate family tapestry on the wall. ‘Papa does not wear his blue doublet with the silver slits except on special occasions, does he?’


Marta, considering herself wise at seven years old, mused: ‘Nor I my jewelled hood. It is for best only.’


‘Exactly so.’ Minou stroked her daughter’s cheek. ‘It is the same even in the Louvre Palace.’


The child nodded. ‘It is wise for even queens and princesses to have everyday clothes, for how else would they be able to play?’


Everyone laughed, even Salvadora, and Minou felt a surge of gratitude for the love and companionship they all shared. She glanced back at the tapestry. She and Piet were sitting clothed in gold thread and adorned in silver and jewelled beads: on cushions in front of them sat Marta in her bleached-white cap beside two-year-old Jean-Jacques in velvet breeches with his wooden rattle. The colours were vibrant and the stitching full of life, of movement. Though no bigger than a lady’s shawl, it was Minou’s favourite. Of all of the tapestries, it spoke most to who they were.


Were they to risk all this for Paris?


Minou pulled herself up at such a thought coming unbidden into her mind. Certainly, the journey would be long. Certainly, the steady pattern of their lives, which had been hard won, would be disrupted. But whatever discomforts they might endure, seeing Paris with their own eyes would surely be worth it? To stand before the mighty towers of the Cathédrale de Notre-Dame and witness history as it was made was not an honour to be missed.


Minou was conscious of Piet’s eyes fixed upon her. No man could have worked harder to promote a message of tolerance, nor to attempt to bring those of differing faiths to common ground. Her husband believed not only that a permanent peace was possible, but also that the majority of women and men of France – Catholic or Huguenot – wanted it. He cited their own family as proof of it. While Bernard, like Salvadora, remained within the old faith, they had brought their children up in the light of the Reformed Church. If their family could manage to accommodate and respect one another’s differences over a decade of civil war, why not other families also?


‘Minou,’ Piet said lightly, ‘will you speak?’


Then he smiled and, even after ten years of companionship, her heart sang. She felt her indecision leave her. Whatever doubts she had, she owed it to her husband to be by his side in Paris.
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‘My thanks for your patience,’ she said, looking around the chamber. ‘And I ask your forgiveness for my poor time-keeping.’


At the sound of her voice, everyone fell silent. Bernard turned in his chair. Aunt Salvadora folded her fan and placed it in her lap. Alis stopped pacing and stood beside Aimeric. Even little Jean-Jacques felt the gravity of the moment and stopped kicking his fat little feet as Marta sprang up onto the bench beside the nurse and whispered at her brother to be still.


‘I am grateful, too, that no one –’ Minou glanced at her daughter – ‘almost no one has attempted to rush me to make my decision.’


‘But you say we should always speak the truth,’ Marta protested.


‘Hush,’ said Piet, putting his hand on her shoulder. ‘Let Maman speak.’


‘It is an honour that our family has been invited to attend the royal wedding. For some –’ she looked at Aimeric – ‘to be present on this auspicious day is a matter of duty. For others, it is a matter of reconciliation.’ She looked to her husband, and he smiled his encouragement.


‘Catherine de’ Medici and Jeanne de Navarre. Two queens, two mothers, adversaries for many years. Through this marriage contract, they signal their intent to put aside their differences in order to rebuild a land fit not only for their children, but also for their children’s children. If Marguerite de Valois – Margot – can take the Protestant Henri of Bourbon for her lawful husband, then surely all Catholics can learn to live in peace with their Huguenot neighbours.’


‘Well said,’ said Bernard. ‘Is not that so, Salvadora?’


‘Indeed, it is.’


Minou looked at each of her family in turn. ‘You all know how hard I have found it to arbitrate between what I consider is in the best interests of our family, and what are our responsibilities to our friends and comrades. But, after much reflection, I consider it will be an honour to stand witness, after these long years of war, to this agreement brokered between former enemies.’ Her gaze came to rest on Piet. ‘That being so, I propose we should all accept the invitation and travel with you to Paris for the wedding.’


For a moment, as everyone in the chamber took a moment to absorb what she had said, the air seemed to shimmer and pulse. Then, Marta clapped her hands and the world came rushing back.


‘I am glad,’ Piet said, his eyes sparkling as he took Minou’s hand. ‘So very glad.’


Aimeric laughed. ‘Brother, did you not know what your wife intended?’


Piet flushed. ‘I was confident in your sister’s decision!’


‘As was I, though I admit as much on my own selfish account as for any nobler purpose. I am summoned to rejoin Admiral de Coligny’s entourage. He has stayed away from Paris of late – hence my liberty to return to Languedoc for these weeks – but now the King calls for him and he cannot refuse. Knowing you all are somewhere within the city walls will make the discharging of my official duties all the more pleasant.’


Minou smiled. ‘And it will be a joy to have the benefit of your companionship there, brother.’ She waved her hand, taking in the room. ‘Of course, there is no obligation for anyone else to come, though all are welcome.’


Bernard shook his head. ‘I am too old for such a journey, Filha. I shall return to Carcassonne and look forward to hearing all about it when you return.’


‘We will lack your company, but I quite understand. What of you, dear Aunt?’


Salvadora flicked open her fan, sending a single black feather dropping to the ground. ‘How you think I would deprive myself of such a spectacle, I cannot imagine! It will be the wedding of the age. Though the Queen of Navarre might be misguided in her faith, her son is a prince of the royal blood and was indeed born a Catholic –’


‘Though a convert to the Reformed Religion as soon as he could speak,’ Alis said under her breath.


‘He is a prince of the royal blood,’ Aunt Boussay repeated firmly. Her expression softened. ‘And to see Paris at last. Notre-Dame and the Sainte-Chapelle, where the holiest of the relics of the Passion are to be seen: the Crown of Thorns, a piece of the true Cross—’


‘Of old wood, more like . . .’


Minou muttered a warning. ‘Alis . . .’


‘Whenever my official duties permit me to do so, I shall be honoured to show you the sights, dear Aunt,’ Aimeric said quickly, frowning at his little sister.


Marta picked up the stray black feather and tickled Jean-Jacques under his chin, then slipped it into the folds of her skirt.


‘I, too, have given the matter due consideration,’ she said in her solemn voice. ‘I shall accompany you and Papa to Paris, not least of all to keep an eye on this little devil.’


‘Really!’ protested Salvadora. ‘Minou, you should not allow her to speak like—’


‘But he is!’ Marta insisted.


Salvadora pursed her lips. ‘Well, it is impolite to say so.’


‘All brothers are devils, Marta,’ Alis grinned, pointing at Aimeric, ‘which is why I, too, feel obliged to come to Paris. To keep an eye on him!’


Aimeric clamped his hand to his chest. ‘You wound me!’


‘Is that true, Maman?’ Marta demanded.


‘What is true, is that your Aunt Alis and Uncle Aimeric have spent a lifetime teasing one another! Pay them no heed.’


‘Come, sit with me, Marta,’ Alis said, leading her to the table. ‘We can talk of vexatious brothers and how to tame them!’


Piet turned to Aimeric. ‘Is it still your intention to leave tomorrow?’


‘Yes. I will travel via Chalabre to bid farewell to my wife, then ride on to join my comrades in Saint-Antonin. All being well, I should be in Paris by the end of June.’


‘Might you be able to secure suitable lodgings for us?’


‘For how long?’


‘Given the wedding itself is on the eighteenth day, I think we should aim to arrive during the first week of August – when, God willing, the city should not yet be too crowded – and depart after the celebrations are completed, a day or two past the Feast Day of St Bartholomew. That will allow us some three weeks in Paris.’ He looked to Minou. ‘That should be sufficient, do not you think?’


Minou smiled. ‘Quite sufficient.’


Salvadora brandished her fan at Aimeric. ‘I would be close to the Louvre Palace, nephew. On the grand rue Saint-Martin or the rue Vieille du Temple. Not in some insalubrious district.’


‘The university quarter on the left bank might be better,’ Bernard said mildly. ‘The air is cleaner there.’


Salvadora tutted. ‘Appropriate lodgings I said, Bernard. I do not wish to be among tradesmen, or poets or—’


‘Protestants?’ called Alis.


Aimeric’s lips twitched. ‘I give you my word, revered Aunt, that I will keep you safe from the contaminating evils of poetry and the printing presses of the Sorbonne.’


His aunt narrowed her eyes. ‘You know perfectly well what I mean.’


‘I do,’ he answered fondly. ‘I shall secure lodgings appropriate to everyone’s needs. Have no fear.’


‘That is settled,’ Piet said, his voice alive with the promise of the adventure. ‘I propose we should leave around the longest day, some two weeks hence, and take our time to travel.’


‘Do you have a route in mind?’ Aimeric asked.


Piet glanced, almost shyly, at Minou and all at once, she understood. Though he had been waiting on her decision, he had already been planning for her and the family to go with him. Was that what he had been on the point of confessing earlier?


Her responsibilities acquitted, Minou took a cup of wine from the dresser and raised it in a toast to her husband.


Piet smiled with relief at her blessing. ‘Indeed yes,’ he said, turning back to his brother-in-law. ‘I have some thoughts.’


In the forest beyond the castle walls, a blackbird called to its mate. A fox made its stealthy way along a woodland path, a buck and doe broke cover to forage for food in the glades. In the mountains, eagles wheeled and soared, riding the currents of the stormy air.


Still the assassin watched. He had no hope now of fulfilling his mission before night fell. He wondered what had happened to change the usual pattern of things, for he had no doubt the intelligence he had been given was good. Every afternoon, the heretic went to the top of the tower. Why not today?


He heard the changing of the watch at dusk. He saw the lamps in the towers lit, one by one. An owl came out to hunt. Finally, as the light faded from the sky, the assassin took shelter in the deeper recesses of the wood. He laid down the pistol, covered his box of gunpowder tightly to keep it dry, then reached in his pocket for the meagre rations he had left, and settled back against the trunk of a beech tree to pass the night.


‘If not today, then tomorrow,’ he said, zeal burning in his eyes. ‘The Lord’s will be done.’


Little by little, the day sank down behind the hills.


Aunt Boussay returned to her needlepoint. Alis took Marta to see the kittens in the kitchen gardens. Jean-Jacques slithered from his nurse’s lap and stumbled back to his grandfather begging for the end of the story.


Minou sat on the bench in the long windows, listening to the tempest. It gave her pleasure to watch Piet, as excited as any boy planning his first hunt, leaning over the table with his leather jerkin untied and his sleeves rolled up. Aware of her observance, he turned. He gestured to the chaos of papers and maps on the table.


‘Would you like to see what—’


Minou held up her hand. ‘Two heads are better than three. I am content to leave the planning to you and Aimeric.’


‘You are sure of that, my lady of the mists?’


Minou smiled. ‘Quite sure, my lord. Indeed, I am grateful not to have to think on it.’


When the bells of Saint-Marcel struck the ninth hour, the nurse took the children to their beds and the servants brought wine and victuals for supper. As the bells were tolling ten, Bernard retired, followed shortly afterwards by Salvadora. The candles danced and guttered. Alis stayed a little longer, offering suggestions and commentary, then took herself to her chamber. At the approach of midnight, with no sign that Piet or Aimeric had exhausted their discussions, Minou also withdrew.


Finally, the storm broke with wild winds and rain lashing against the glass. She was bone tired, but when she got to her chamber, she found she could not settle. The voices in her head were too clamorous.


At two o’clock, she rose and opened the casement to freshen the air in the room. She heard the indistinct voices of her husband and brother, now standing in the courtyard below, then returned to her tangled bedsheets, wondering what kept them from their beds.


Finally, the tempest blew itself out. All the same, it was still not until a pale dawn came creeping across the sill, that Minou surrendered to the inky arms of sleep.











   



CHAPTER SEVEN
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LIMOGES, LIMOUSIN



Saturday, 7 June


Vidal du Plessis – known now as his Eminence, Cardinal Valentin – looked down from the window to the small courtyard below, which was bathed in morning light. The boy was playing with other children.


The more Vidal watched, the more he observed how Louis held himself apart. Vidal approved of such caution. To be part of the group without drawing attention, all the better to watch and listen, showed good judgement. Yes, he approved.


They had ridden north all the previous day and through the night, covering some fifty leagues distance from Saint-Antonin to reach the outskirts of Limoges by morning. But although Vidal had taken refreshment and bathed his temples, he remained fatigued, short tempered. The relentless rattling of the carriage wheels continued to reverberate in his skull. Every bone in his body ached. His head ached.


He turned away from the casement and cast his eye around the well-appointed chamber. Limoges fell within one of the principalities controlled by Jeanne d’Albret, the Huguenot Queen of Navarre, and was currently under the control of Huguenot forces. However, a handful of noble estates had been left in Catholic hands, not out of compassion or mercy, but because the Queen admired the enamel boxes and trinkets produced in Limoges itself. Papist or not, she did not want those businesses destroyed.


Vidal considered the situation absurd and resented being confined in this enclave surrounded on all sides by heretics. Only a few weeks more, he told himself, then he could return to his purpose. Come the feast day of the Nativity of Our Lady in September, he would be free to return to his private estate outside Chartres, purchased with the promise of his inheritance from his wealthy uncle, Philippe du Plessis, and fulfil the next stage of his life’s plan. Having had no son of his own, Vidal was his sole heir.


At least, Vidal had thought it so. He shook his head, unwilling to entertain such troublesome thoughts, then wished he had not. His temples started to pound.


Vidal was a star in the firmament of the Catholic Church. Having risen to prominence quickly during the wars, and with little opposition, he had long ago shaken the dust from his southern heels and aligned himself to the North. He was a personal confessor to the Duke of Guise himself and, for ten years, had profited from the misery of civil war. He was now wealthy, he was powerful. But at this particular moment, for his private ambition to be realised, he needed the current cessation in hostilities to hold. Until Michaelmas at least, when the last of his arrangements would be in place. Then the country could go to the Devil, for all Vidal cared.


Yet, for all his influence, Vidal felt matters slipping out of his control. The situation in Amsterdam – though he had taken steps to contain it – gave him cause for concern. He had money enough for the time being, but a claim against his uncle’s estate would ruin him. His plans were costly. And his current sojourn in Languedoc had served to confirm that the feverish atmosphere in Paris was repeated the length and breadth of the country. France was a tinder box of resentments, disagreements and grudges.


Everything depended upon the royal wedding going ahead. Though the marriage contract had been agreed between the Queen Mother and the Queen of Navarre in April – and an August date set for the ceremony – the Louvre Palace was still waiting for dispensation from his holiness the Pope. That was just one obstacle. There were others, not least the Duke of Guise’s continuing love affair with the bride-to-be.


Vidal wiped his face with his kerchief, the furrows on his brow evidence of ten years’ service to the Guise family. He neither knew nor cared if there was genuine affection between Marguerite of Valois and Guise. However, he was certain that when – if – Guise did show his hand, it would not be love sickness which moved him to action but rather an implacable hatred of his rival, Henri of Navarre. That the Huguenot was about to be married into the Catholic royal family, so uniting the Bourbon and Valois dynasties, was a savage blow to Guise’s own ambitions. Vidal had no doubt his master would do anything he could to destabilise the alliance.


His fingers began to tap on the back of his chair, accelerating as his vision took hold. No, he could not waver now. And though God had long since stopped listening, Vidal raised his eyes towards Heaven.


‘Your Eminence.’


Vidal turned. His steward, Xavier, stood in the doorway. The man was as pale as milk, despite the southern sun, and his eyes were a sickly yellow. Yet he was robust and never faltered.


‘What is it?’ he said sharply, replacing his red biretta on his head.


‘Forgive me for intruding upon your repose, sire, but word has come from Paris.’


‘Oh?’


Vidal held out his hand for the letter. Xavier crossed the room in two strides, gave the missive into his master’s hands, then stepped respectfully back.


Vidal broke the familiar wax seal, already a little cracked from the journey, and scanned the words. He frowned, read them again a second time to be certain there was no mistake, then held the parchment to the candle and watched it flame.


‘Eminence?’


He tossed the blackened remains into the cold grate. ‘We are summoned to return immediately to Paris. It seems the Queen of Navarre is unwell. A fever.’


‘Was she previously in ill health?’


‘I believe she was,’ Vidal replied carefully.


‘Then it is to be hoped that her Majesty recovers, although . . .’


Vidal narrowed his gaze. He had a network of spies working the length and breadth of the country – and beyond – of whom Xavier was one of the most reliable. He did not enquire how the man acquired his information, nor from whom, but his intelligence was rarely at fault. The ends always justified the means in the service of Christ.


Vidal waved his hand. ‘Although?’


‘I would not wish to talk out of turn, my lord.’


‘I will not censure you if your words are not to my liking. Speak.’


The steward hesitated. ‘Though I am sure it is a common fever . . .’


‘Do not try my patience, Xavier.’


‘The messenger who brought the letter confided that, but three days previously, Catherine de’ Medici had made a gift of gloves to her royal guest.’


Vidal’s eyebrows shot up. ‘Perfumed gloves?’


‘Fashioned by her own glove maker,’ Xavier elaborated, ‘they are said to have been delivered by the Queen Mother herself to the Hôtel de Bourbon, where the Queen of Navarre is currently residing.’


Vidal considered. There wasn’t a woman or man in Paris who had not heard of René the Florentine, perfumier to Catherine de’ Medici, or that, in addition to his legitimate business, the Italian was also the purveyor of poisons. His shop was never empty.


‘This is common talk in the streets?’


‘The messenger said it is spoken abroad in both Catholic and Protestant quarters.’


Vidal’s fingers drummed harder. This did not suit his purposes at all. If there was rumour of a plot against the Queen of Navarre – even if there was no evidence, but the populace believed it – then relations between the Louvre Palace and the Hôtel de Bourbon would become strained and the marriage might not go ahead.


‘Bring the messenger to me. I would question him myself.’


Xavier raised his hands in apology. ‘I did not think to detain him. He has already gone.’


‘Gone? Gone where?’


‘I know not. I am sorry, sire.’


Vidal frowned. ‘No matter. We have our instructions. We cannot let such gossip distract us from our purpose. It is not for Man to question the ways of God, Xavier, for His wisdom and mercy are beyond our comprehension. The soul of the Queen of Navarre is in His hands.’


‘Yes, your Eminence.’


‘Prepare the horses. I will give my apologies to our host for our premature departure. We leave immediately.’


Xavier’s eyes snapped up. ‘We are not to wait for news from Puivert?’


Vidal understood his concern. The intention had been to remain in Limoges until receiving word his orders had been successfully carried out.


‘The Duke of Guise would have me back in Paris without delay – indeed, he commands it so. I shall be forced to assume the matter has been resolved satisfactorily.’ He paused. ‘However, leave instructions that, should any communication be received, word should instantly be sent after us. I would know for certain.’


‘Very good, sire.’


‘On which point, is there word from Amsterdam?’


Xavier met his eye. ‘The situation was as you thought, Eminence. However, the matter is concluded.’


‘Discreetly?’


‘There is no possibility of any connection being made to you, sire. And there was no evidence – if indeed it ever existed – found in the nun’s quarters. Nothing.’


Vidal exhaled in relief. ‘Good. You have done well, Xavier. I will see you are rewarded for it.’


‘It is my honour to serve, sire.’


A shout in the courtyard below drew Vidal back to the window. The child’s game had shifted from play to battle. Louis had his right fist clenched but it was the other boy – a son of one of the prefects of Limoges – who sported a bloody nose.


Despite the fact that he would be obliged to issue some form of reprimand, Vidal was not displeased. Louis had a fighting spirit, a sharp sense of self-preservation and an apparent lack of conscience. Whether he claimed Louis as his own, or continued the fiction that he was the child of a distant cousin taken into his service out of Christian charity, Vidal believed he would prove himself useful.


‘And what of the boy?’ Xavier asked.


Vidal looked down into the courtyard again. His son seemed to sense he was watching, for he glanced up and without a hint of shame in his face. The briefest of smiles crossed Vidal’s lips. He shut the casement.


‘The boy comes with us to Paris.’











   



CHAPTER EIGHT
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CHÂTEAU DE PUIVERT, LANGUEDOC



Evidence of the storm was everywhere, broken branches and twigs strewn on the wet ground. The heavy smell of damp straw and the bright day assailed them as Minou left the family’s private quarters.


As the rising sun painted its pattern upon the grass, the solemn group walked from the upper courtyard and through the castle grounds towards the gatehouse to bid farewell to Aimeric. Marta skipped ahead while Minou and Alis walked at a steadier pace, with little Jean-Jacques jumping between them.


The basse cour courtyard was given over to the working life of the castle – the stables and blacksmith, the kennels for the hunting dogs, the stores of provisions to support the household, the salting house. Each Saturday, the lower courtyard served as the weekly market for Puivert. Tradesmen and artisans had begun to come up from the village as soon as the gates were opened to set up their stalls. Farm women with willow panniers and wide-brimmed hats bearing the first fruits of summer; the cooper and his boy rolling rattling barrels of ale over the drawbridge and into their position in the shadow of the western walls; a poulter with a brood of hens gathered within a makeshift wooden pen. The fires of the forge were already burning, the farrier with his rasp in hand. Even a travelling bookseller appeared with his chap books and pamphlets. Minou had never seen him before and made a mental note to look over his stock.


Women bobbed their heads as they walked by, men touched their caps. Minou smiled and raised her hand in greeting to those she knew. It had taken her some time to learn to accept and to acknowledge these signs of fealty. Nothing in her modest upbringing in Carcassonne, or her childhood spent in her father’s bookshop in the Bastide, had prepared her for such status or position.


Minou had come into her unexpected title from her birth mother, Marguerite, for whom she was named. That Bernard and Florence were not her blood parents was a secret that had been kept from her until she was nineteen. So, although Minou felt a gratitude for the woman who had died giving birth to her – and in whose image she was fashioned, tall and pale, with straight brown hair and mismatched eyes – she considered Florence, some fifteen years buried, her true mother. It was love, not blood, that mattered. It was from Florence that she had learnt her life lessons, not least to respect and pay heed to antiquity: ‘Without knowing of the mistakes of the past,’ she used to say, ‘how can we learn not to repeat them? History is our teacher.’


Minou had held the advice close to her heart and so, without intending it, had modelled herself on the great medieval hero of Languedoc, Viscount Trencavel.* She ran her estates in Puivert – their estates – in the same spirit of toleration and was proud that in this, one of the southernmost points of the Midi, Huguenots and Catholics lived side by side as Christian neighbours, not enemies.


When Piet had been away in the early years of the wars, Minou had governed Puivert alone. She had become reliant on her own counsel and instincts, adjudging who was the injured party in a broken engagement or a dowry unpaid; listening to charges of adultery and ill faith and stolen inheritance; protecting the innocent against unwarranted charges and administering justice to the guilty.


‘Merci infiniment, madame,’ said Marta prettily.


Minou looked round to see her daughter accepting a handful of ripe, red cherries from an old woman, dressed head-to-toe in black, in the custom of the mountains. Marta’s pale blue dress, with its delicate cream beads, dazzled in comparison.


‘Mercé a vos, madomaisèla,’ the woman responded in the old language.


Minou had learnt how to fulfil her duties by trial and by error, so it amused her how Marta took it all in her stride. She was very much the treasured daughter of the castle. Minou glanced at her son and wondered if he would be the same. She doubted it. Jean-Jacques was a steady, good-natured child, constant in his emotions, not quicksilver curious like his sister. Jean-Jacques would inspire loyalty. Marta would inspire devotion.


The assassin jolted awake and slapped his cheeks to sharpen his senses.


Yes, there it was. Close at hand, voices and the sounds of horses, the gust and whinny of their breath, their hooves tramping on damp ground. The noise was coming from somewhere around the main entrance to the castle. Was it her? Was the false châtelaine leaving the castle? His spirits lurched at the thought he might have missed his chance, but then he remembered. He’d heard that her heretic brother was to ride north today. He looked up at the tower and saw there was no one there. The door to the roof remained shut.


The assassin rolled his shoulders and stretched his legs to loosen the night from his bones, then undid his hose and pissed against a beech tree.
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